OA 129.99

## IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX
AUG 0 3 1999

CLERK,	SUPREME	COURT

CHICAGO TITLE INSURANCE CO.;
AMERICAN PIONEER TITLE INSURANCE
CO.; FLORIDA LAND TITLE
ASSOCIATION; ATTORNEYS' TITLE
INSURANCE FUND, INC.; FLORIDA
ASSOCIATION OF INDEPENDENT TITLE
AGENTS, INC.; STEWART TITLE GUARANTY:
CO.; COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE
INSURANCE CO.; LAWYERS TITLE
INSURANCE CORP.; and FIRST AMERICAN
TITLE INSURANCE CO.,

Appellants/Cross-Appellees,

CASE NO. 95,312

Ву

VS.

S. CLARK BUTLER; FLORIDA HOME BUILDERS ASSOCIATION; and NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE CO., Appellees/Cross-Appellants.

#### APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### 1. The Case

## A. The Order Appealed From

This is an appeal from a Final Judgment of the Circuit Court of Leon County granting Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment. App. 1.1 (R VIII, 1393-99, 1422-24). The Judgment declared unconstitutional §§626.611(11), 626.8437, 626.9541(1)(h)3a, 627.780(1), 627.782, and 627.783, *Florida Statutes* (1997), and DOI Rule 4-186.003(13)(a), *Florida Administrative Code* (App. 1, 4, and 7) to the extent they prohibit title insurance agents from "rebating" to buyers of title insurance any portion of the agent's share of the title insurance risk premium. These statutes and rule comprise the framework by which title insurance rates were established by the DOI using legislatively established criteria, and having established such rates, prohibited agents from circumventing them by "rebating."

All references to the Appendix of materials filed with Appellants' Initial Brief are in the form "App. \_\_\_".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Following the rendition of the Judgment, the Legislature amended various portions of Chapters 626 and 627 central to this case. See Ch. 99-286, Laws of Florida. App. 5. Those amendments, which took effect July 1, 1999, are discussed at the relevant parts of this brief.

While granting Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment, the Circuit Court nonetheless announced that it was "inclined to find [that] the State's interest in maintaining a 'viable and orderly private sector market for property insurance in this state,' justifies the regulation of rates and rebates as set forth in the challenged provisions." The Court felt compelled, however, to reach the opposite result because it felt bound by this Court's closely divided (4 to 3) decision in Department of Ins. v. Dade County Consumer Advocate's Office, 492 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1986), in which this Court held unconstitutional certain "anti-rebating" statutes affecting life insurance commissions, but not dealing with title insurance.

## B. Procedural History of the Action

S. Clark Butler, a developer and builder, filed this action against the Department of Insurance seeking a declaratory judgment that §§626.9541(1) (h)3a, 626.572, and 626.611(11), and DOI Rule 4-186.003(13) were unconstitutional as a violation of substantive due process. (R I, 01-02, 42-44). Those statutes and rule prohibited title insurance agents from "rebating" any portion of the title insurance risk premium set by the DOI as part of its regulatory rate making function under §627.782. Butler claimed the prohibition against rebating infringed his purported due process and other "rights" under Article I, §2 and §9 of the Florida Constitution to negotiate for a lower rate with title insurance agents. *Id*.

Although the Complaint only sought to invalidate statutes and a rule prohibiting title *agents* from rebating their share of the risk premium, not the comparable prohibition against *insurers* rebating their portion, all of Florida's major title insurers intervened to defend the constitutionality of the statutes. (R I, 13, 14-15, 17-19, 24-29, 116-18, 123-26, 179-80; II, 243-46; VII, 1250-51). Specifically, the title insurers intervened on the grounds that the anti-rebating framework protected the solvency of title *insurers*. They contended that absent such prohibition, cutthroat competitive pressures among agents would impair the underwriting functions performed by title agents, on which title insurers rely to identify and eliminate title risks, and such degradation in underwriting would threaten the solvency of title insurers as well as ultimately drive up the net insurance premiums to consumers.<sup>3</sup> (R V, 810-43; VII, 1237-43).

The Circuit Court initially dismissed the Complaint, finding that Butler had failed to exhaust available administrative remedies. The First DCA reversed, however. *Butler v. State, Department of Ins.*, 680 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1996). The First District concluded that because Butler's pleaded claim was limited to a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Florida Home Builders Association, Inc., a 14,000 member not-for-profit trade organization ("FHBA"), was permitted to intervene as a plaintiff to join in the challenge to the statutes, as was National Title Insurance Co., a Dade County title insurer.

facial constitutional challenge to the statutory provisions, his claim was not subject to the exhaustion doctrine. *Id*.

After remand, Butler sought partial summary judgment to establish that §626.572 (1997) applied to title agents, in order to then move to declare it unconstitutional. (R II, 229-42). Appellants cross-moved for partial summary judgment to establish that §626.572 did not apply to title agents.<sup>4</sup> (R II, 319-78).

Finding that §626.572 did not apply to title agents, the Court granted Appellants' Cross-Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and denied Butler's motion. (R III, 499). The Court also found that the statutory prohibition on "rebating" was §627.780(1). (R III, 499).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As a part of that motion, Appellants also asked the Court to find that the section of the Insurance Code that prohibited "rebating" was §627.780(1), which prohibits any person from charging any amount of risk premium other than that established by the DOI. The specific statutes Butler had challenged did not themselves prohibit rebating, but rather provided penalties for "illegal" rebates. What rebates are "illegal" are defined elsewhere. That "elsewhere" is §627.780(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Court never addressed the constitutionality of §626.572, which permits insurance "agents" to rebate their "commissions" under certain circumstances, because it found that statute inapplicable to title insurance agents. The correctness of the Court's perception of the Legislature's intent as to §626.572 was confirmed (and the issue mooted for appellate purposes) by the 1999 Legislature's unequivocal explication of its intent. Specifically, Ch. 99-286, Laws of Florida, amended §626.8411(2)(c) to make explicit that §626.572 "do[es] not apply to title insurance agents or agencies."

Plaintiffs filed a Second Amended Complaint adding a constitutional challenge to §§626.8437, 627.780, 627.782 and 627.783 (1997). (R III, 532-48). All parties then moved for summary judgment on the constitutional issues. On February 26, 1999, the Court issued its Final Judgment and Declaration holding the challenged statutes and rule unconstitutional under *Dade County*. (R VIII, 1393-99).

Appellants filed a Motion For Rehearing, Reconsideration and Clarification. (R VIII, 1411-19). That motion did not ask the Court to reconsider the constitutional issue itself, but argued that while the Judgment referred to title agents' "commissions" as what could be rebated or discounted, the statutory scheme that had been facially challenged made no provision for any "commission." The motion also asked, alternatively, that the Court clarify its order by specifying what portion of the risk premium the Court was describing as a "commission".

The Court clarified its order by announcing that "The term 'commission' in this context simply means the agent's share of the risk premium." (R VIII, 1421, ¶ 1).

Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal to the First District Court of Appeal.

(R VIII, 1447-82). Appellants and Appellees each moved the First DCA to certify the appeal to this Court as one of great public importance requiring immediate

resolution. The First DCA granted those motions and on April 13, 1999, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

### C. Post-Judgment Action of the Legislature, and Proceedings in This Court

Following this Court's acceptance of jurisdiction, the Legislature passed CS/HB 403 by a combined vote of 146 to 5.6 That bill amended various statutory sections that were challenged in this action or which were directly material to that challenge. The legislation also made express findings as to the policies and purposes underlying the Legislature's actions.

Upon the passage of CS/HB 403, Appellants moved this Court to suspend its previously established briefing schedule until it was known whether the legislation would become law. This Court granted that motion. On June 8, 1999, the Governor signed CS/HB 403 into law.

CS/HB 403 became Chapter 99-286, Laws of Florida, and took effect on July 1, 1999. Appellants then moved the Court to dismiss the appeal as moot or, alternatively, to remand it to the Circuit Court for further consideration of the constitutional issues in light of the statutory amendments. Appellees opposed that Motion and on July 14, 1999, this Court denied it and established a new briefing schedule.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CS/HB 403, which became Ch. 99-286, Laws of Florida, passed by a vote of 107 to 5 in the House of Representatives and by a vote of 39 to 0 in the Senate. (Fla. H.R. Jour. 759 (Reg. Sess. 1999); Fla. S. Jour. 1184-85 (Reg. Sess. 1999).

#### 2. The Facts

## A. Nature Of Title Insurance

Title insurance is a unique form of insurance. Unlike life insurance, it does not attempt to predict when an event that is *certain* to eventually happen to every insured (death) will occur. Unlike property and casualty insurance (e.g., car insurance, fire insurance), it does not attempt to predict *how often* events that are not certain to occur (fires, car accidents) will occur. That is, it does not attempt to predict the likelihood of *future* events. Rather, it insures an existing state of title based upon the examination of an existing public record and related materials. Aff. of Birmingham, ¶ 9-10 (R VII, 1217-18).

Unlike any other form of insurance, the underwriting process that leads to the issuance of title insurance is intended to *eliminate* the risk insured against. *Id.*, ¶ 10-11 (R VII, 1218); Senter Dep. at 276-78 (R V, 930-32). Indeed, the issuance of "casualty title insurance" (i.e., insuring against a known risk, or in disregard of whether a risk exists, rather than ensuring that all reasonably determinable risks have been eliminated or do not exist) is statutorily prohibited. §627.784, *Florida Statutes*. The determination of insurability requires a carefully performed title search and an examination of title and other necessary information by a skilled and knowledgable title agent to detect defects in title and eliminate them before the

policy issues. *Id*. Consequently, for example, while purchasing health insurance has no impact on whether one will become ill, purchasing title insurance directly affects whether the buyer will, in fact, lose his or her property to a dispute over title.

The buyer of title insurance therefore not only obtains the promise of the insurer to pay *money* to compensate the buyer for a claim (which is common to all insurance), but, unlike all other forms of insurance, the actions of the agent in determining insurability actually minimize or eliminate the chance that the insured will ever have to *make a claim*.

## B. Role Of The Title Insurance Agent

Unlike the life insurance agents from whom the plaintiff in *Dade County* had been unable to obtain a rebate of premium, title insurance agents perform a key role in the underwriting of title insurance.<sup>7</sup> Because a title insurance policy issues only after the examination of often complex legal records, and after the making of skilled judgments concerning any title issues raised by that examination, the care and thoroughness of that examination, and the skill by which the determination of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The undisputed evidence below is that life insurance agents do not perform any "underwriting" or risk evaluation function in connection with the issuance of life insurance. Aff. of Marshall,  $\P$  8 (R VII, 1231-32). Life insurance agents gather information (such as answers to a health questionnaire) and forward them to the insurers. The insurers do the underwriting and decide whether to issue the policy and at what rates. *Id.*,  $\P$  13 (R VII, 1233).

insurability is made, are critical to the risk insured. Aff. of Gay, ¶ 12-14 (R VII, 1210-11); Aff. of Birmingham, ¶ 12 (R VII, 1218); Senter Dep. at 278-79 (R V, 932-33).

That work is almost always performed by the title insurance agent. It is the agent who determines whether a policy will be issued, and if so, what limitations (if any) will be placed on that policy. Aff. of Gay, ¶11-13 (R VII, 1209-11); Aff. of Birmingham, ¶11 (R VII, 1218); Cox Dep. at 159-165 (R V, 975-81); Senter Dep. at 276-279 (R V, 930-33); McCarty Dep. at 123-124 (R V, 900-01). Indeed, the vast majority of all title insurance in the state of Florida is issued based on an examination and skilled analysis performed *not* by title *insurers*, but by title *agents*. Senter Dep. at 276 (R V, 930); Aff. of Gay, ¶11-13 (R VII, 1209-11).

The agent typically examines an "abstract" of title, which reflects instruments (e.g., deeds, mortgages, probate orders, judgments, trust agreements, etc.) filed as public records relating to a parcel of property to be insured, as well as surveys, affidavits, and other information not in the public record. Aff. of Gay, ¶ 11-13 (R VII, 1209-11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Title agents must either be attorneys or licensed by DOI following an application, examination and testing process. *See* Ch. 626, Part V, *Florida Statutes*, §626.841 *et. seq.* 

From that examination various questions or issues may arise as to whether the state of title is sufficiently clear and complete and, even if clear and complete, whether it reveals defects in title. Aff. of Gay, ¶ 11-13 (R VII, 1209-11); Aff. of Birmingham, ¶ 11 (R VII 1218). Applying experience and a knowledge of title insurance principles, including legal principles, the agent then makes the skilled judgments necessary to determine such things as (a) whether there are clouds or defects in title; (b) if so, how, if at all, they may be cured (which itself includes such judgment as the interpretation of sometimes ambiguous instruments, the status of estate, inheritance and tax laws, a knowledge of title standards and judicial decisions, and a determination of what corrective or additional instruments, legal proceedings, new surveys, or other means may be used to effect such curative acts); (c) if they are not curable, whether a policy can be issued and, if so (d) what "exceptions" or exclusions from coverage are necessary to protect the insurer and comply with the statutory prohibition on the issuance of "casualty" title insurance. Aff. of Gay, ¶ 13 (R VII, 1210-11); Aff. of Birmingham, ¶ 11 (R VII, 1218).9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This agent role is necessitated by the enormous volume of title insurance written in the state annually *and* the skill intensive nature of the underwriting process that must occur before a policy issues. There being over 6000 title agents in the state, (August 26, 1991 National Title Insurance Co. Letter to DOI's Director of Legislative Affairs (R VII, 1205)), insurers cannot, and historically have not, undertaken this role themselves. Aff. of Gay, ¶ 12 (R VII, 1210).

The title agent performs most of the functions normally performed in house by *insurer* "underwriters" in other forms of insurance. The title *agent*, not the insurer, thus makes the judgments that will ultimately expose the title insurance company to greater risks or lesser risks. This has long been recognized by the Legislature, and was expressly so found by the Legislature in connection with the 1992 amendments to the statutory framework (discussed in more detail, *infra*):

Under current practice, the functions of a title insurance agent are considerably broader than the functions of other insurance agents. Title agents perform underwriting functions that are, with respect to other kinds of insurance, usually performed by insurer employees at the insurer's home office. The requirement of licensure of both title agents and title agencies may be viewed as an outgrowth of the high level of professional judgment and discretion required of title agents.

Florida House of Representatives, Committee on Insurance, *Final Bill Analysis & Economic Impact Statement* (SB 170-H), July 8, 1992, p. 9 (hereafter "1992 Final Bill Analysis"). App. 6. (R V, 854).

In other words what the title agent does in carrying out this skilled, judgment-based function is the determination of insurability itself. In the context of title insurance, where the issuance of insurance without eliminating known or knowable risks is prohibited, the determination of insurability is synonymous with eliminating the risk that the title insurer then insures against. In its 1999 revisions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> All emphasis in quoted material is added unless otherwise noted.

to the title insurance provisions of Chapter 627, the Legislature denoted these as "Primary Title Services," consisting of:

determining insurability in accordance with sound underwriting practices based upon evaluation of a reasonable search and examination of the title, determination and clearance of underwriting objections and requirements to eliminate risk, preparation and issuance of a title insurance commitment setting forth the requirements to insure, and preparation and issuance of the policy.

Ch. 99-286, §6 (amending §627.7711(1)(b), Florida Statutes).

Consequently, the risk assumed by the title *insurer* depends on the skill and adequacy of the title *agent's* work. If the title insurance agent does not carefully and correctly perform his or her work, including particularly the determination of insurability, what is intended to be a minimal, if any, risk assumed by the title insurance company can become a substantial loss.<sup>11</sup>

## C. The Statutory Title Insurance Rate Framework

The care with which the title insurance agent performs his or her work, particularly the determination of insurability, directly impacts the *adequacy of title* insurance rates to accomplish their purpose of, among other things, sustaining title insurers' continued solvency and ability to pay claims. Senter Dep. at 278 (R V,

When a title agent fails in his or her underwriting function, the title insurer is exposed to the near certainty of loss, unlike, for example, with health insurance. That is because title insurance insures against the existence of a cloud or defect in title at a precise point in time. If a defect or cloud exists, it is an existing fact at the time of the policy's issuance and becomes essentially an embedded loss.

932); Aff. of Gay, ¶¶ 14-15, 20-21, (R VII, 1211-13). Title insurance rates have historically been established by taking into account, *inter alia*, the insurers' past loss experience and predicting future losses. Thus, §627.782(2) (1997) required the DOI to establish the risk premium by considering (among other things) the insurers' "loss experience and prospective loss experience under . . . policy liabilities." §627.782(2)(a).<sup>12</sup>

The 1999 Legislature explicitly recognized the connection between the care with which agents perform their "underwriting" functions and the adequacy of title insurance rates to protect title insurers:

WHEREAS, the Legislature finds that . . . [the] determination of insurability of title to real property prior to insuring such property is essential to the maintenance of the solvency and soundness of title insurers; and because title insurance agents or agencies determine insurability on behalf of title insurers, there is a direct relationship between the determination of insurability performed by title agents or agencies and the public interest . . . .

Ch. 99-286, Preamble, Laws of Florida.

In addition, the Legislature has recognized in recent years that the dependence of title insurers on a solvent, efficient and sustainable title insurance agency force is vital to insurers and to the public interest. It is not possible for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The Legislature in the 1999 Amendments used this same loss experience to directly set rates. Ch. 99-286, § 12, Laws of Florida.

title insurers in this state to perform the labor intensive and skill intensive underwriting functions necessary to issue title insurance absent a stable and reliable agency system. Aff. of Gay ¶ 12 (R VII, 1210).

Beginning in 1992, the Legislature turned its attention to the stability of the entire title insurance industry, including both agents and insurers, out of a concern for its future. Based upon evidence of increasing loss ratios in the title insurance industry, and thus out of concerns over "the financial stability of the title insurance industry," 1992 Final Bill Analysis, p. 33, an independent study of the industry was commissioned by title insurers and agents and was presented to the Legislature. That study identified problems with the Florida title insurance rates and statutory structure.

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