IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 95,312 1ST DCA CASE NO. 1999-938

CHICAGO TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY, et al.

Appellants/Cross-Appellees,

VS.

S. CLARK BUTLER, et al.

Appellees/Cross-Appellants.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES/CROSS-APPELLANTS TO INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS/CROSS-APPELLEES

ON CERTIFIED DIRECT APPEAL CONCERNING A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT ENTERED IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The challenged statutes prohibit consumers from negotiating a discount or reduction in the portion of the premium received by title insurance agents as a commission. *See* § 1.C., *supra*. These statutes (commonly referred to as "anti-rebate" statutes), were declared facially unconstitutional under Article 1, section 9 of the Florida Constitution by the trial court below on the basis of this Court's decision in *Department of Insurance v. Dade County Consumer Advocate's Office*, 492 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1986).

In *Dade County*, this Court invalidated similar anti-rebate statutes as violative of due process in light of the absence of any legitimate state interest justifying the continued existence of the anti-rebate statutes. Although *Dade County* did not pertain to title insurance agents, the trial court, finding no discernible difference between title agents and other insurance agents sufficient to render this Court's analysis in *Dade County* inapposite to the instant action, invalidated the anti-rebate statutes pertaining to title insurance agents as an unconstitutional deprivation of the Appellees' property interest in negotiating and contracting for the commission paid for title insurance.

Even though this Court's review is *de novo*, the order should be affirmed based on the lack of any reasonable relationship between the statutes at issue and the furtherance of a valid governmental objective. Contrary to the Appellants' claim, title

insurance is not unique and the commissions paid to title agents should not be entitled to heightened governmental protection under the guise of the State's police power. Such protection is not afforded to performance of related title services or other insurance agents and was not sustainable under *Dade County*. Finally, the statutes fail to achieve the purposes advocated by Appellants.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. ISSUING A TITLE INSURANCE POLICY IS NOT UNIQUE AND DOES NOT WARRANT PAYMENT OF GUARANTEED PROFIT TO A TITLE AGENT.

1. Nature of Title Insurance.

In an effort to escape the outcome required by *Dade County*, Appellants contend that title insurance is unique because title agents perform a title search and examination. Appellants' Initial Brief at 7. While a title search and examination must be performed before issuing a policy, they are not functions of insurance. § 627.7845, Fla. Stat. (1997). Rather, title insurance is just like other forms of insurance—it seeks to protect against covered risks and distributes the risks among a pool of policyholders. Like other types of insurance, premiums charged in title insurance are determined based upon a review of historical losses and projected future losses. Cox Dep. at 16-18 (App. 16 at 16-18). Similarly, as in other lines of insurance, title insurers and other insurers employ agents to issue policies in accordance with established underwriting criteria. In short, title

insurance performs the same function as other types of insurance, albeit for a different risk.

a. Title Search and Examination are Not Title Insurance.

Appellants intentionally combine performing a title search and examination with issuing a title insurance policy. This confuses the analysis. They are separate activities and serve different purposes. A title search and examination includes a review of the public record (and other available documents) for any identifiable defects or encumbrances on a property's title. Gay Aff., ¶ 11-13 (R VII, 1209-11). Based on the results of the examination, an insurer, or an agent following an insurer's guidelines, either remedies the defects or excepts them from coverage, thus reducing the insurer's risk under the policy. Andrews Supp. Aff., 11/9/98, ¶ 5, 7 (App. 15, ¶¶ 5, 7). Just as a health or life insurer may require a physical examination by a skilled physician in order to limit its risk, a title examination performs the same role.³ However, neither examination is insurance.

Title insurance is insurance is "a contract whereby one undertakes to indemnify another or pay or allow a specified amount or a determinable benefit upon

³ Appellants make much ado about loss minimization and elimination. Loss minimization and elimination are goals of all insurers. For example, health insurers seek to minimize losses by requiring extensive physical examinations. Although title insurers are able to eliminate most of the risks to title by either curing the defect or excepting it from coverage, risks still exist. Otherwise, the title policy would be unnecessary.

determinable contingencies." § 624.02, Fla. Stat. (1997). Admittedly, each type of insurance is unique in the risk that it covers, for example: life insurance insures against loss due to death; health insurance insures against expense due to illness; fire insurance insures against loss due to fire; property insurance insures against loss due to property damage; and title insurance insures against loss due to title defects. Despite these inherent and obvious differences, the purpose of any insurance, including a title policy, is to protect the policyholder from the financial impact of an unknown loss which may surface during the term of the policy. *See* JOYCE D. PALOMAR, TITLE INSURANCE LAW § 1.03[3] at 1-18 (1996). Like liability, casualty and property insurance, title insurance achieves this goal by relying upon principles of risk assumption and distribution. *See id.*, § 1.03[4] at 1-16; McCarty Dep. at 100-01 (App. 17 at 100-01).

Specifically, title insurance insures against losses arising from the discovery of unknown or undiscovered liens, encumbrances, grounds for invalidity, adverse claims and other defects in title during the policy period. § 624.608, Fla. Stat. (1997). A title search and examination or evaluation can only identify these potential title defects. They can be insured against, remedied or excepted. Andrews Aff., 11/9/98, ¶ 7 (App. 15, ¶ 7). Curing and excepting defects are not insuring against an unknown loss, they merely minimize risk.

Countless defects or circumstances, undiscoverable through even the most skilled and thorough title search and examination of the record, may create a claim against a title.⁴ Furthermore, in some instances a title policy will cover the risk of events occurring subsequent to issuance of the policy.⁵ The risk created by these unknown and undiscovered defects is precisely the reason title insurance is necessary:

[T]here is a casualty element to all title insurance. Title insurance routinely insures against many encumbrances and defects that cannot be uncovered in a standard search of the real property records. Title insurance also covers on a casualty basis losses from defects that are discoverable, but are not found in the title examination because of human error or an incorrect interpretation of a legal instrument or proceeding. It is, in fact, title insurance's offer to cover these types of defects on a casualty basis that has caused many

⁴ Numerous title defects may exist that a search of the public record would not disclose, for example: fraud, forgery or duress in the execution of instruments affecting title; false impersonations of the owner; deeds appearing to convey title that are actually mortgages; execution by a minor or an incompetent; heirs not disclosed in the public record; wills not discovered at the time of owner's death; improper notice of judicial proceedings to those with interests in the property; executed but undelivered deeds; deeds delivered under invalid powers of attorney; undisclosed marriages that result in marital property claims; misindexing or misfiling of a document in the record; adverse possession claim that ripens in the future; encroachments by neighbors, etc. *See* PALOMAR, *supra* § 1.05 at 1-30; D. BARLOW BURKE, JR., LAW OF TITLE INSURANCE § 2.1.2 at 2:9-2:10 (2d ed. 1993).

⁵ See 9 APPLEMAN, INSURANCE LAW AND PRACTICE § 5209 at 17 (Supp. 1999); American Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Lawyers Title Ins. Corp., 793 F.2d 780 (6th Cir. 1986) (applying Tennessee law to hold that title policy covered mechanic's lien that arose subsequent to the issuance of the policy).

purchasers and mortgagees to opt for title insurance over the title examination of an abstractor and attorney.

See PALOMAR, supra § 1.03[4] at 1-24 and 25 (recognizing that most jurisdictions prohibit issuance of title insurance on a casualty basis, like Florida, see § 627.784, Fla. Stat. (1997), but conceding that in reality title insurance includes a casualty element).

Real estate purchasers obtain title insurance to protect not only against "on-record" defects in title which may surface because of a poorly performed title search and examination or evaluation, but also against "off-record" defects not discoverable by even the most thorough and competent search. *See* BURKE, *supra* § 2.1.2 at 2:9. The very purpose of title insurance, like any other insurance, is to protect against these unknown or uncertain future losses.

b. Other Types of Insurers Issue Policies Through Agents Based upon Underwriting Criteria.

Just like other types of insurers, title insurers employ agents in many transactions to issue policies based upon specified underwriting criteria. Like other insurance agents, title agents are authorized to bind insurers by issuing policies. Randol Aff., ¶ 4.a (App. 13, ¶ 4.a); Andrews Supp. Aff., 11/9/98, ¶¶ 4, 5 (App. 15, ¶¶ 4, 5). Title insurers provide specific criteria which reflect insurer underwriting decisions and dictate when policies may be issued. Randol Aff., ¶4.a (App. 13, ¶ 4.a); Andrews Aff., 10/22/98, ¶¶ 10, 11

(App. 11, $\P\P$ 10, 11); Andrews Supp. Aff., 11/9/98, \P 3 (App. 15, \P 3). Likewise, in other lines of insurance insurers routinely authorize their agents to issue binders pursuant to specific insurer underwriting parameters and criteria as provided in their contracts. Bourassa Aff., \P 4.b (App. 10, \P 4.b).

Once the title search and examination functions are viewed in their proper context as steps to minimize risks, Appellants' attempt to distinguish title insurance fails. Simply put, title insurance resembles other lines of insurance in that it insures against unknown risks and is issued and bound by authorized agents just like insurers in other lines.

Appellants rely on the affidavits of Charles Birmingham and Norwood Gay to describe functions of a title insurance agent which purportedly justify payment of a premium containing a guaranteed profit. However, their affidavits principally describe the related title services which agents perform, but fail to identify them as such. *See* Gay Aff. Gay, ¶ 13 (R VII, 1213-14); Gay Supp. Aff., ¶¶ 3, 6, 7, 8 (R VII, 1223-28); Birmingham Aff., ¶¶ 11, 12 (R II, 381). Appellees do not dispute that agents may perform important activities involving related title services. However, these services are not policy issuance functions and are not compensated by the agent's share of the risk premium.

Further, neither Mr. Gay's nor Mr. Birmingham's description of services fundamentally differs from Mr. Andrews'. For example, Appellants argue that agents

perform "underwriting" functions which they describe as the delegation of authority to "issue title insurance under the insurer's policy forms based upon a skilled evaluation performed by the agent of the state of the record title...." Birmingham Aff., ¶¶ 11 and 13 (R II, 381); Gay Aff., ¶¶ 13 (R VII, 1213). This is precisely how Mr. Andrews described policy issuance. Andrews Aff., 11/9/98, ¶¶ 5, 6 (App. 15 ¶¶ 5,6). When the testimony is distilled to its essence, it becomes clear that a title agent may perform a skilled examination to determine the status of title and existence of defects. *But*, this is a related title service. An agent may also remedy defects of title, but again, this is a related title service or a legal service. For performing these services, it is undisputed that an agent must be compensated separately and apart from the premium.

2. A Title Agent is Not Necessary In Many Transactions.

A title agent is frequently not even involved in the issuance of a title insurance policy. In many instances, the title insurer itself obtains the title search, performs the examination and issues the policy. Randol Aff., \P 5 (App. 13, \P 5). In these instances, the insurer charges the policyholder separately for the title search and examination, document preparation and closing as related title services. *Id.*, \P 6 (App. 13, \P 6). However, the insurer must retain 70% of the premium normally paid to the agent as well as the 30% retention for assumption of the risk. In these circumstances, the insurer views the 70% of the premium as profit. *Id.* Since title agents are often not involved in issuing

a policy, Appellants' argument that their continued existence is critical to the solvency and stability of the industry loses force.

3. The Actual Functions Performed by Title Agents Do Not Differ from Casualty Agents.

When related title services are excluded from consideration, it is apparent that title agents perform the same functions as casualty and other agents do for their share of an insurance premium. These functions include policy issuance, solicitation and premium collection.

Casualty agents solicit potential customers and refer them to insurers. Bourassa Aff., $\P4$ (App. 10, $\P4$). They also participate in the underwriting process by obtaining detailed information from insureds relating to risk management topics including loss experience, nature of the enterprise to be insured and potential risks. *Id.* Like a title agent, a casualty agent often has specific authority from the insurer to issue binders of insurance coverage pursuant to specific contractual parameters addressing the types, amount and conditions related to coverage. *Id.*; Butler Aff., 10/23/98, $\P6$ (App. 12, $\P6$); Andrews Supp. Aff., 11/9/98, $\P5$ (App. 15, $\P5$). A casualty agent reviews the policy and delivers it to the insured. Bourassa Aff., $\P4$ (App. 10, $\P4$). For performing these functions, a casualty agent receives either a management fee or a share of the premium

(typically 20%) paid on the policy, but both are negotiable. Id., ¶ 5 (App. 10, ¶ 5); Cox Dep. at 46 (App. 16 at 46).

Likewise, a title agent who is compensated separately for all related title services and/or legal services, receives the risk premium for soliciting business, preparing the commitment, issuing the policy and collecting the premium. Cox. Dep. at 21-22 (App. 16 at 21-22). Solicitation includes those efforts necessary to attract and obtain title insurance customers including advertising, customer relations and referral of business. Cox Dep. at 32-33 (App. 16 at 32-33); Andrews Aff., 11/9/98, ¶¶ 9, 10, 11 (App. 15, ¶¶ 9, 10, 11). Preparation of a title insurance commitment is essentially a binder as found in other forms of insurance, Cox Dep. at 34, 37 (App. 16 at 34, 37); Bourassa Aff., ¶ 4 (App. 10, ¶ 4), and is generally considered a ministerial function involving the transfer of any exceptions in the title report to commitment schedules. Andrews Aff., 11/9/98, ¶¶ 6, 8, 10, 11 (App. 15, ¶¶ 6, 8, 10, 11); Senter Dep. at 52-53 (App. 18 at 52-53); Randol Aff., ¶ 4 (App. 10, ¶ 4). Issuance of a policy includes collection of the premium, maintenance of records and remittance of the premium to the insurer. Cox Dep. at 35 (App. 16 at 35).

⁶ These functions are not dissimilar to those described by Marshall as discussed in Appellants' Initial Brief. Marshall notes that life insurance agents solicit customers and have limited authority to bind insurers. Marshall Aff., ¶¶ 9, 11, 12, 14 (R VII, 1232-4).

The only real difference between title and casualty agents with regard to their respective share of an insurance premium is that a casualty agents may negotiate their share of the premium.

4. Historical Background of Statutes.

Appellants misstate the history and content of the 1992 amendments. The actual impetus for the 1992 amendments was the need to protect title insurers from agents who were demanding up to 90% of the premium as a commission or referral fee. Senter Dep. at 28 (App. 18 at 28). Appellants also ignore the historical reference to the agent's share of the premium as a "commission" and argue that the Legislature's removal of the term substantively changes what the agent does to receive his share of the premium. The legislative history provides no support for Appellants' arguments.

a. The 1992 Amendments.

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